5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Appellate Case No. 2015-001810

NOV 21 2016

SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

vs.

Marquez D. Glenn.....Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher T. Brumback
Spencer D. Langley
John H. Scully
1 Augusta Street, Suite 301D
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 414-9097
Attorneys for Appellant

Roy F. Harmon, III
Harmon & Major, PA
PO Box 8954
Greenville, SC 29604
(864) 467-1712
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court's denial of Appellant's Motion for Immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A) solely on the ground that Appellant was in violation of a three, year old Trespass Notice for loitering was an abuse of discretion because Appellant, as an invitee of a tenant, was in fact in a place where he had a right to be when he was forced to defend himself, a position consistent with a recent and well-reasoned opinion of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, South Carolina property law jurisprudence, and the canons of statutory construction.
- II. The housing project's use of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-620 in conjunction with the project's "Ban List" is in violation of the United States Housing Act's statutory mandate and HUD's implementing regulations such that they cannot constitute the grounds for the forfeiture of an individual's statutory right to self-defense.
- III. The use of a general non-specific allegation of loitering as a basis for a summary adjudication of a trespass violation on a public housing project property is unconstitutionally vague.
- IV. The use of a three year old trespass notice as a bar to statutory immunity under the PPPA deprives the Appellant of his right to due process of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from criminal proceedings in the matter of State v. Marquez Devon Glenn. See generally State v. Glenn, 2013A2330203357 and 2013A2330203356. This appeal concerns matters of law in trial court criminal proceedings and specifically the immunity hearing that was held pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-450(A) and 16-11-440(C).

The trial Court criminal proceedings before the Greenville County Court of General Sessions concerned charges for Attempted Murder, Assault, Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature, and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime. See generally Glenn, 2013A2330203357 and 2013A2330203356. The charges arise out of an incident wherein Appellant defended himself with the use of a handgun from an unprovoked attack by two (2) individuals while Appellant was leaving an apartment complex. See Immunity Hr'g Tr., R. pp. 72:11–202:24.

Appellant filed a pretrial Motion for Statutory Immunity based on S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-450(A) and 16-11-440(C), on the grounds that Appellant was immune from prosecution because he had a legal right to use a firearm in self-defense when he was attacked by two (2) assailants at the Spring Grove Apartment Complex. See Motion for Immunity, R. pp. 1-3; Immunity Hr'g Tr., R. pp. 219:18–229:2. The pretrial hearing to consider Appellant's Motion for Statutory Immunity began on August 3, 2015 and concluded on August 4, 2015. See Immunity Hr'g Tr., R. pp. 68:18–230:10. The pretrial hearing was conducted outside of the presence of the jury and was considered and ruled upon by Judge John C. Hayes III. See id.

On August 4, 2015, Judge Hayes ruled from the bench, orally denying Appellant's Motion for Statutory Immunity because Judge Hayes found "that the immunity argument fail[ed] solely on the issue of whether or not [Appellant] had a right to be there" at the time Appellant acted in self-defense. Immunity Hr'g Tr., R. p. 230:15–17 (emphasis added). Judge Hayes concluded that Appellant met the remaining criteria to qualify for Statutory Immunity under the protections of S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-450(C) and 16-11-450. See id. at pp. 229:3–231:16 (concluding that Appellant would be entitled to "immunity but for his not being allowed on the property").

Following the trial court's denial of Appellant's pretrial Motion for Statutory Immunity, Appellant was tried by jury in a trial that began on August 4, 2015 and concluded on August 5, 2015. On August 5, 2015, the jury acquitted Appellant on the charge of Attempted Murder, but convicted Appellant of the lesser included charge of Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime. See R. pp. 232-33.

Appellant's Notice of Appeal was properly and timely served upon all parties of interest in this matter on August 17, 2015 seeking review of the trial court's oral ruling denying Appellant's Motion for Statutory Immunity "solely on the issue of whether or not [Appellant] had a right to be [on the property]" at the time Appellant was attacked and forced to act in self-defense. See Notice of Appeal, R. p. 234-35; Immunity Hr'g Tr., R. pp. 230:15–231:14. In seeking review of the trial court's oral ruling denying immunity, Appellant is also appealing his convictions for Assault and Battery of a High and

Aggravated Nature and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime that resulted from the trial court's denial of Appellant's pretrial Motion for Statutory Immunity.

For the reasons stated in this Brief, it is the Appellant's position that the trial court committed an abuse of discretion by denying Appellant's Motion for Statutory Immunity, that Appellant is entitled to Statutory Immunity as a matter of law, and that, in light of Appellant's entitlement to Statutory Immunity, Appellant's conviction for Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature and Possession of a Weapon During a Violent Crime must be vacated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appeal arises out of an incident on the evening of April 12, 2013 at the Spring Grove Apartment Complex, a Section VIII, government-subsidized housing complex, located at 1900 Boling Road Extension, Taylors, SC 29687 (hereinafter "Spring Grove" or "the Complex"), in the County of Greenville, South Carolina. See Immunity Hr'g Tr., R. pp. 69:10–70:22, 203:15–209:2; see also 2010 Model Lease for Subsidized Programs, R. pp. 287-302.

The individuals involved in the events of the night in question are Marquez Glenn (hereinafter "Mr. Glenn"), a social guest of Shelricka Duncan (hereinafter "Shelricka"), who was a tenant at Spring Grove at the time, Kevin Bruster (hereinafter "Kevin"), and Elfonzo Bruster (hereinafter "Elfonzo"), Kevin's nephew. See Immunity Hr'g Tr., R. p. 159:10–23, p. 164:16–18, p. 189:4–12. Both Kevin and Elfonzo are substantially larger than Mr. Glenn, who is fairly small in stature. See id. Tivarius Henderson (hereinafter

“Tivarius”) was also involved in events earlier in the evening that ultimately led Kevin and Elfonzo to attack Mr. Glenn. See id. at R. pp. 69:8–71:19.

On the evening of April 12, Kevin, who was heavily intoxicated at the time, arrived at Spring Grove to find and speak with Gloria Duncan (hereinafter “Gloria”), the mother of Shelricka. See Immunity Hr’g Tr., R. pp. 70:23–71:3, pp. 94:13–98:2, p. 213:10–20, p. 218:15–18. Gloria previously had a romantic relationship with Kevin. See id. At the time Kevin was angrily and drunkenly seeking Gloria, she was in the apartment of Shelricka, her daughter, with a number of other people, including Tivarius. See id. at R. pp. 94:13–98:2, pp. 160:9–161:3, p. 197:11–24. Shelricka’s apartment is also the same apartment to which Mr. Glenn had been invited by Shelricka and in which Mr. Glenn had been hanging out with friends prior to taking a friend to the convenience store. See id. Having already left on the aforesaid errand, Mr. Glenn was not present at Shelricka’s apartment when Kevin forcibly entered Shelricka’s apartment. See id.

Upon determining Gloria’s location, Kevin forcibly entered Shelricka’s apartment (hereinafter “27C”). See id. at R. p. 95:3–13. After violently forcing his way into 27C uninvited, Kevin used a razor blade that he had concealed in his mouth to cut Tivarius in the eye and arm as Tivarius attempted to protect the inhabitants of 27C, leaving Tivarius bleeding and with a substantial laceration above his eye. See id. at R. pp. 70:23–71:20, p. 95:13–20. After Tivarius got Kevin outside 27C and Kevin’s attack abated, Kevin went to the apartment of his nephew, Elfonzo, where he engaged in an effort to incite Elfonzo to violence. See id. at R. pp. 102:13–108:24, p. 118:3–13, p. 124:1–7, p. 169:13–15, p. 213:14–214:7. In response to Kevin having attacked Tivarius and forcibly entered 27C,

law enforcement was at some point contacted and dispatched to Spring Grove. See id. at R. p. 63:2–10.

At approximately the same time Kevin was recruiting and urging Elfonzo join him in attacking Tivarius and his family, Mr. Glenn returned to Spring Grove from sober-driving several friends to the convenience store. See id. at R. pp. 160:9–161:3, p. 197:11–24. Upon returning to Spring Grove, Mr. Glenn was approached by the police officers who had reported to the scene as a result of Kevin’s earlier assault of Tivarius. See id. at R. p. 161:9–14, pp. 163:20–164:5. The police officers inquired as to Mr. Glenn’s knowledge of the events that had transpired at the Complex involving Kevin, to which Mr. Glenn responded that he had no knowledge of any such events as he had been away from the Complex at the time the assault in question transpired. See id. at R. p. 161:10–18.

While Mr. Glenn was assisting and cooperating with the police in their investigation, he noticed, but did not think anything of, Kevin and Elfonzo lurking in the shadows of a nearby apartment building. See id. at R. p. 162:10–24. Upon concluding his conversation with the police and the police departing the scene, Mr. Glenn, out of concern over what the police had just told him transpired in his absence, retrieved his belongings from the apartment with the intent to depart from Spring Grove. See id. While walking to his car after obtaining his belongings, Kevin and Elfonzo, seeing Mr. Glenn alone, quickly and intentionally blocked Mr. Glenn’s path and began threatening Mr. Glenn. See id. at R. pp. 118:16–122:8. Upon Kevin and Elfonzo’s approach of Mr. Glenn and throughout escalation of the confrontation, Elfonzo had his hand in his

waistband as one would do when concealing a handgun. See id. at R. pp. 84:1–86:13, pp. 133:8–135:16, pp. 170:11–171:15.

Immediately upon accosting Mr. Glenn, both Kevin and Elfonzo began aggressively yelling at Mr. Glenn about the prior altercation instigated by Kevin with Tivarius, in 27C. See id. at R. pp. 164:15–165:7. Having been at the store during the time of the prior altercation involving Kevin, Mr. Glenn denied any involvement or knowledge of the subject about which Kevin and Elfonzo were berating him. See id. at R. p. 80:14–21, p. 169:3–24. Contemporaneous with Mr. Glenn responding to Kevin and Elfonzo in an attempt to extricate himself from what was now clearly a dangerous situation, Kevin verbally threatened Mr. Glenn’s life, stating, “Man, fuck that, [Elfonzo], let’s do what we said—what you just said what we came to do. You said we gonna get one of these niggers in this white Lincoln right here, we gonna get all these niggers right here, so let’s do what we came to do.” Id. at R. p. 165:2–6; see also id. at R. p. 74:13–18. The car to which Kevin was referring, the white Lincoln, was Mr. Glenn’s vehicle.

At that point Kevin then violently attacked Mr. Glenn, punching him full-force in the throat and neck. See id. at R. p. 198:11–16. In addition to striking Mr. Glenn in the neck and knocking him backwards and off-balance, Kevin’s punch struck a cup in Mr. Glenn’s left hand, sending the entire contents of Mr. Glenn’s drink into Mr. Glenn’s eyes, blinding him momentarily. See id. at R. p. 165:11–19. As Mr. Glenn regained his balance and struggled to regain his vision by wiping his drink from his eyes with his left coat sleeve, a female witnessing Kevin and Elfonzo’s attack of Mr. Glenn yelled “GUN!” just in time for Mr. Glenn to see Elfonzo, who by all indications was carrying a gun and

who is known to do so by Mr. Glenn, pulling a handgun from his waistband. See id. at R. p. 85:6–25, p. 133:8–18, pp. 166:13–167:20, pp. 170:11–171:15. Mr. Glenn, in response to Elfonzo pulling a handgun and in reasonable fear for his life and that of his family, pulled a handgun of his own, which until that moment had been concealed and known only to Mr. Glenn, and fired three (3) almost simultaneous shots in self-defense. See id. at R. pp. 73:24–87:1, pp. 134:14–135:1, pp. 164:13–172:7.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court’s denial of Mr. Glenn’s Motion for Immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A) solely on the ground that Mr. Glenn was in violation of a three year old Trespass Notice for loitering was an abuse of discretion because Mr. Glenn, as an invitee reasonably egressing the residence to which he was invited at the time he was attacked, was in fact in a place where he had a right to be when he was forced to defend himself.

For Mr. Glenn the evening of April 12, 2013 began like so many other unremarkable Friday nights, with an invitation from a friend who lived at the Spring Grove to come hang out with a group of mutual friends. Immunity Hr’g Tr., R. pp. 69:22-70:14. Despite the violent assault perpetrated by Kevin while Mr. Glenn was driving some friends to the convenience store, Mr. Glenn’s evening continued on its uneventful course upon his return from the store. See id. at R. pp. 70:18-72:7.

Unaware of the events that transpired in his absence, the danger of his soon-to-be assailants who were concealing themselves in the shadows and lying in wait, or that he allegedly did not have a right to be at the Complex, Mr. Glenn willingly cooperated with the the police officers investigating the reports of the assault perpetrated by Kevin with a razor blade. See id. at R. pp. 71:19-72:10, pp. 160:1-173:1 And, having concluded his

conversation with the police, who said nothing of Mr. Glenn not being allowed to be on Spring Grove property, and shared his knowledge, or lack thereof, concerning the assault perpetrated by Kevin, Mr. Glenn's visit to his friend's apartment would have concluded unremarkably but for the violent and criminal acts of Kevin and Elfonzo, who without provocation attacked Mr. Glenn as he attempted to peaceably leave Spring Grove. See id. at R. pp. 171:1-178:20.

Despite the finding of the trial court that neither Mr. Glenn's actions nor his alleged violation of a three (3) year old Trespass Notice on the night of April 12, 2013 in any way contributed to or caused him to be the target of Kevin and Elfonzo's criminal acts, the trial court, in direct opposition to the expressly stated legislative intent of the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act (hereinafter "the PPPA") and as a misinterpretation of South Carolina trespass laws, nonetheless denied Mr. Glenn's Motion for Immunity "solely" on the ground that Mr. Glenn was not in a place where he had a right to be at the time he was attacked. See id. R. pp. 230:15-231:14 (finding that Mr. Glenn was not "engaged in an illegal activity[] which would prevent him from—from having immunity but for his not being allowed on the property.").

Although the question before the Court intertwines the interpretation of the PPPA and South Carolina trespass law, and specifically S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-620, it is fundamentally a determination of the scope of a bona fide individual's right to defend himself against attack. Accordingly, in the final analysis, it is fundamentally a determination of the scope of a bona fide individual's right to defend himself against attack. Therefore the proper resolution of the issue, and ultimately whether Mr. Glenn is

entitled to immunity, should turn on the intent of the General Assembly in enacting the PPPA.

The expressly stated intent of the General Assembly in passing the PPPA was to (1) codify the right of “law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others” and (2) ensure “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-420(B), (E) (emphasis added).

Stated more simply, the PPPA is intended to extend the right to defend one’s self to victims of crime and other bona fide individuals indiscriminate of where an attack may occur and without obligation to flee when attacked. Given that “[t]he primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature,” it is through this lens that a bona fide individual’s right to self-defense as expanded by the PPPA must be construed. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662, 664 (2011).

Moreover, the canons of statutory construction further require that the language of the PPPA “must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute” and in such a way as to avoid (1) “a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature” or (2) an interpretation that “would defeat the plain legislative intention.” State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 768 S.E.2d 232, 244 (Ct. App. 2015) (citation omitted; emphasis added). In essence, a “statute as a whole must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and

policy of lawmakers, and the language of the statute must be read in a sense that harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” *Id.* (citation and quotation marks omitted).

Despite the exceedingly clear legislative intent of the PPPA and the applicable canons of statutory construction, the trial court nevertheless interpreted the PPPA, and specifically S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C), in a manner that not only led to an absurd result in the case at bar, but that, from a policy standpoint, also vitiates the plainly stated purpose of the PPPA—that no victim of a crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal.¹

A. Mr. Glenn’s status as a guest and licensee of a resident of the apartment complex conferred on Mr. Glenn a license to ingress and egress through the common areas of the complex such that Mr. Glenn, while reasonably exercising his license to egress, was “in [a] place where he ha[d] a right to be” when he defended himself from an unprovoked attack. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

In addition to the fact that the trial court’s sole ground for the denial of immunity flies directly in the face of the expressly stated intent of the PPPA, it also is contrary to proper interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-620, which states in pertinent part that:

Any person who, without legal cause or good excuse, enters into the dwelling house, place of business, or on the premises of another person after having been warned not to do so or any person who, having entered into the dwelling house, place of business, or on the premises of another person without having been warned fails and refuses, without good cause or good excuse, to leave immediately upon being ordered or requested to do so by the person in

¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) states that “[a] person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in section 16-1-60.” (emphasis added).

possession or his agent or representative shall, on conviction, be fined not more than two hundred dollars or be imprisoned for not more than thirty days.

(emphasis added). That the trial court's interpretation and application of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-620 resulting in the denial of immunity to Mr. Glenn under the PPPA constitutes clear error of law is plainly and inexorably supported by a recent and well reasoned opinion of the South Carolina Attorney General, well-settled and fundamental principles of South Carolina property law, and a wealth of persuasive jurisprudence from a myriad of other jurisdictions.

The Attorney General opinion in question, which is on all fours with the central issue presented by this appeal, was promulgated by the current South Carolina Attorney General in 2013 to respond to a request for opinion from the Honorable Danny Singleton of Seneca on the subject of whether "a person placed on trespass notice with regards to an apartment complex or housing project may enter upon such property at the invitation of a tenant." See Op. S.C. Att'y Gen., p. 5 (June 5, 2013). The Attorney General's opinion provides in-depth and persuasive analysis of the respective property rights of landlords and tenants in housing complexes and the ability of tenants to lawfully invite persons to a complex over objection of the landlord.

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