ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

NOV 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-001810

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

MARQUEZ DEVON GLENN,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

(R.p. 302) (emphasis added). Although he now questions the applicability of the 2010 model lease on grounds it was used by a prior management company for the apartment complex, Appellant did not object or otherwise challenge the trial court’s finding of fact that the 2010 model lease: “would be the operable one in 2013.” (R.p.37, lines 16-17). Thus, the factual finding is the law of the case. Parker, 391 S.C. at 611, 707 S.E.2d at 801; Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 829.

Appellant’s entire argument hinges on whether he was a lawful guest or licensee when he was invited to Shelrick’s apartment. However, that determination depends on whether Shelricka had the right to extend the invitation. Under the model 2010 lease, which was the operable lease

in 2013, she did not. Shelricka validly and legally gave up any right to invite guests on the site's no trespass list to her apartment. Appellant was on the site's no trespass list, as confirmed by Deputies Lay and Jumper when they encountered Appellant loitering at the complex in October of 2010. At trial, the lower court appears to have acted in accordance with the contract principle espoused in Nelson by being loath to construe Shelricka's contract in a manner that would render any provision meaningless. In seeking support for his position from South Carolina property jurisprudence, Appellant comments that "the landlord cannot exercise a right he has previously given up to a tenant." (Brief of Appellant, p.20). Yet here, Appellant implores this court to let a tenant exercise a right she has previously given up to her landlord. Appellant was not a legal guest or licensee of a resident of the apartment complex; therefore, he had no right to visit Shelricka's apartment, no right to ingress and egress, and was not in a place he had a right to be for purposes of the Act.

B.

Appellant's argument that the express language of section 16-11-620 of the Code implies an intent requirement for criminal trespass through creation of a "good excuse" exception is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. Furthermore, the argument is irrelevant where Appellant was not charged with or convicted of criminal trespass and where the tenant had contracted away her right to invite Appellant to her apartment.

In his brief on appeal, Appellant argues the express language of section 16-11-620 implies an intent requirement through creation of a "good excuse" exception to criminal trespass. He contends this further supplements his position that, as a matter of law, he should not have been denied immunity on the ground he was not in a place he had a right to be. Appellant argues he had a "bona fide claim of right" as a defense to trespass because he had a good faith reasonable belief that he was allowed to visit his friend who invited him to her apartment. (Brief

of Appellant, p.22-p.32). However, this argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Indeed, the appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). Here, Appellant did not make an argument about the level of intent required for a trespass conviction in his written motion or in his arguments to the trial court. He never claimed he had a bona fide claim of right to violate the no trespass notice and go to Shelricka's apartment. Consequently, the trial court did not make any ruling in regard to this claim. Because the argument was neither raised to nor ruled upon the trial court, it is not a proper subject of appellate review.

Nevertheless, even if preserved, this argument fails because Appellant continues to make the mistake of equating the State's ability to hold an individual criminally liable for trespassing, with a private property owner's ability to determine whether an individual has the right to enter that property. The bona fide claim of right defense and the good excuse defense are exactly that, defenses to a charge of criminal trespass. Appellant faced no such charge; therefore, these defenses are inapplicable to the Act and whether Appellant was in a place he had a right to be for purposes of the Act.

In a footnote, Appellant claims "he would have no means of knowing what provisions were contained in the "model" lease (Brief of Appellant, p.25); however, Appellant was a former resident evicted in 2010. While this does not prove he had actual knowledge of the provisions in the 2010 model lease, it certainly gave him a means of knowing those provisions. Appellant also

complains no evidence was presented that the 2010 model lease was the operative legal document defining Shericka's rights as a tenant. (Brief of Appellant, p.25). But the trial court made a finding of fact that it was operative as to all tenants of the complex in 2013, making this "fact" the law of the case and binding on this Court. Parker, 391 S.C. at 611-12, 707 S.E.2d at 801; Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. Whatever the case, the State submits Appellant's knowledge of the lease terms or lack thereof has no bearing on whether he was in a place he had a right to be under the Act. If, as Appellant argues, his right to violate the trespass notice flows from the invitation of a tenant, then that right also terminates when the tenant voluntarily gives up the right to extend such an invitation. When a tenant executes a contract with her landlord that gives up her right to invite guests who are on the no trespass list, there is no longer a basis to contend a defendant has a right to be at that apartment by virtue of an invitation, or to contend he is entitled to immunity under the Act.

Appellant goes on to argue that in ruling on immunity, the trial court should have concerned itself not with whether he had a legal right to be at the apartment complex, but whether he had a good faith reasonable belief that he was allowed to visit his friend who invited him to her apartment. In support of this argument he references a 2006 opinion from Maryland, In re Antoine M, 907 A.2d 158 (Ct. App. 2006). (Brief of Appellant, p.27). However, the parenthetical Appellant includes from that opinion perfectly illustrates the fallacy of his argument. The Court of Appeals of Maryland stated: "While the teenage daughter may not, as a matter of property law, have been able to "countermand" the [trespass] notice, that is not the appropriate standard for determining whether the trespass was [criminal]." Here, the trial court appropriately focused not on whether Shelricka's invitation would constitute a defense to criminal trespass, but on whether her invitation could "countermand" the underlying trespass

notice so as to give Appellant a right to be there for purposes of immunity. The trial court properly found it could not, and concluded Appellant was not in a place he had a right to be.

Next, Appellant turns to the facts presented at the immunity hearing and asserts:

“Shelricka, as a tenant of Spring Grove, had the right to bestow upon those persons she chooses to invite to her residence a right of way in the nature of an easement through such common areas, stairs, breezeways, and passageways which afford access to her apartment.” (Brief of Appellant, p.27). However, under the terms of the 2010 model lease, which was in effect for Shelricka at the time of the shooting, she explicitly did not have the claimed right. Appellant continues addressing the “facts” and asserts he was engaged in “a completely peaceable and lawful endeavor” despite the undisputed fact he was unlawfully carrying a concealed weapon when he went to the “social gathering with mutual friends.” (Brief of Appellant, p.30).

Appellant also insists he was “passing through the common areas of the Complex only to reasonably ingress and egress from Shelricka’s apartment and stopping only at the explicit request of law enforcement officers to assist them in the investigation of the assault previously perpetrated by Kevin.” (Brief of Appellant, p.30). Yet the testimony from the hearing does not support this claim. Tivarius testified Appellant said he was not merely egressing from Shelricka’s apartment, but was going to walk to his grand grandmother’s house, which was in “the next court over” (R.p.71-p.72; p.89, lines 1-9). Appellant himself testified that instead of merely egressing from Shelricka’s apartment, he walked to Kiana’s apartment to get his bag and pay for a pizza. (R.p.159-p.162). These facts discredit Appellant’s entire argument, because they takes his actions outside of the alleged license Appellant argues he was given by Shelricka’s invitation, and demonstrate he was not actually departing as directly as he contends.

Finally, Appellant argues it would be absurd result to require him to: “choose between (1) suffering great bodily injury and/or death at the hands of unprovoked assailants or (2) suffering a twelve (12) year prison sentence for defending himself. (Brief of Appellant, p.31). However, Appellant, like every other person, had the right to act in self-defense. The issue here is not whether Appellant had to choose one of these two options, but whether his choice should be excused by a finding of immunity, or should be presented to a jury when he was at an apartment complex where he had no right to be.

C.

Appellant’s argument that section 16-11-410’s invocation of location rights refers to relative rights versus an attacker and does not contemplate an individual’s forfeiture of protections during lawful egress from a posted property is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. Furthermore, the trial court’s broad interpretation of the restrictive language from the Act is entirely consistent with the protections afforded by the Act in the context of an individual’s right to self-defense.

In his brief on appeal, Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying immunity on grounds that he did not have the right to be at the Apartment complex because S.C. Code section 16-11-410’s “invocation of location rights refers to relative rights versus an attacker and does not contemplate an individual’s forfeiture of protections during lawful egress from a posted property.” He contends the trial court’s reasoning for denying immunity would wreak havoc on the rights of people to stand their ground and would run counter to the General Assembly’s intent to “loose an innocent person’s right to defend themselves from the archaic and technical limitations previously placed on the right to self-defense.” (Brief of Appellant, p.32-p.34) This argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94. In any event, the argument is

without merit. The only person who wreaked havoc during the incident was Appellant, when he pulled out his unlawfully concealed pistol and started shooting instead of attempting to retreat, which resulted in his paralyzing an unarmed man who was with the person who punched Appellant in the head. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the "archaic and technical" limitation previously placed on the right to self-defense, i.e., the duty to retreat, has not been eliminated by our Legislature in every situation. Instead, the Legislature deliberately restricted the circumstances in which a person does not have a duty to retreat. One of those restrictions was to only make immunity possible for someone "in another place where he has a right to be." The trial court properly found Appellant was not in a place he had a right to be, and properly denied immunity on this ground.

II.

Appellant's argument that the apartment complex's use of section 16-11-620 of the Code in conjunction with a no trespass list is in violation of the United States Housing Act and HUD's implementing regulations is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. It also is without merit because the 2010 model lease used forms appear to have been approved by HUD.

In his brief on appeal, Appellant argues: "The housing project's use of [16-11-620] in conjunction with the project's "Ban List" are in violation of the United States Housing Act's statutory mandate and HUD's implementing regulations such that they cannot constitute the grounds for the forfeiture of an individual's statutory right to self-defense." (Brief of Appellant, p.36). This argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94.

Furthermore, the argument is without merit. The 2010 model lease consists of forms

promulgated by HUD, each page of which bears the HUD “equal housing opportunity” logo. Even if it was raised, it is incredulous to suggest lease forms approved by HUD would be deemed by the trial court to be in violation of HUD regulations. Indeed, it is incredulous to believe a lease term prohibiting a resident from inviting a person onto the property or their unit who is listed on the site’s no trespass list would be considered by the District Court of South Carolina to be an unreasonable term or condition, notwithstanding the opinion of the District Court of Maryland in Diggs v. Housing Authority, 67 F. Supp.2d 522 (D. Md. 1999). The trial court properly considered the lease terms in the 2010 model lease in rejecting Appellant’s claim that he was in a place he had a right to be and its decision should be affirmed.

III.

Appellant’s argument that the use of a non-specific allegation of loitering as a basis for a summary adjudication of a trespass violation on a public housing project property is unconstitutionally vague is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court, and even if preserved, the argument lacks merit because Appellant was already on the no trespass list due to his previous eviction at the time he was given the verbal trespass notice by the police for loitering, and because he was never adjudicated guilty for a trespass violation.

In his brief on appeal, Appellant argues: “The trial court’s interpretation of the immunity and trespass after notice statutes would deprive citizens of an important liberty interest conferred by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 et seq. in an arbitrary fashion and without appropriate due process.” (Brief of Appellant, p.39). This argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94. In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (“A constitutional claim must be raised and ruled upon to be preserved for appellate review.”). Here,

Appellant did not mention the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendments in his written motion or in his arguments to the trial court. Consequently, the trial court did not make any ruling in regard to these constitutional claims. Because the argument was neither raised to nor ruled upon the trial court, it is not a proper subject of appellate review.

In any event, even if preserved, the argument lacks merit. Appellant was never adjudicated guilty of trespass, and he was not given a verbal trespass notice solely because he was loitering. Instead, the officers who encountered Appellant at the apartment complex checked the no trespass list, determined Appellant was on that list, confirmed his identity, and gave him a verbal trespass notice. Thus, contrary to Appellant's claim, none of the actions in regard to his being placed on trespass notice were unconstitutionally vague.

IV.

Appellant's argument that the use of a three year old trespass notice as a bar to statutory immunity under the Act deprives him of his right to due process of law is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court, and even if preserved, the argument lacks merit where Appellant was never charged with or found guilty of criminal trespass.

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